

Diversity of Wood-Inhabiting Fungi Across Managed and Wildfire Boreal Scots Pine Forest Chronosequences

Noel Wieser

Master's thesis • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Forest Sciences, Department of Forest Ecology and Management Examensarbeten / SLU, Institutionen för skogens ekologi och skötsel 2024:03 • ISSN 1654-1898 Umeå 2024

Diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi across managed and wildfire boreal Scots pine forest chronosequences

Mångfald av vedlevande svampar i kronosekvenser av skötta och brända boreala tallskogar

Noel Wieser

| Supervisor: | Maja Sundqvist, Swedish University of Agricultural Science (SLU), Department of Forest Ecology and Management | |
|-----------------------|---|--|
| Assistant supervisor: | Michael J. Gundale, Swedish University of Agricultural Science (SLU), Department of Forest Ecology and Management | |
| Examiner: | Eliza Hasselquist, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest Ecology and Management | |

| Credits: | 30 credits | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| Level: | A2E | | | |
| Course title: | Master's thesis in forest science at the Department of Forest | | | |
| | Ecology and Management | | | |
| Course code: | EX0958 | | | |
| Programme/education: | Forest Science Programme | | | |
| Course coordinating dept: Department of Forest Ecology and Management | | | | |
| Place of publication: | Umeå | | | |
| Year of publication: | 2024 | | | |
| Copyright: | All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner. | | | |
| Title of series: | Examensarbeten / SLU, Institutionen för skogens ekologi och skötsel | | | |
| Part number: | 2024:03 | | | |
| ISSN: | 1654-1898 | | | |
| Keywords: | Chronosequence, CWD, Wood-inhabiting fungi, Species richness | | | |

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Ecology and Management

Abstract

I studied how and if clear-cut forestry mimics the disturbance of wildfire by comparing the impacts of these disturbances on coarse woody debris (CWD) volumes, CWD characteristics, as well as species richness of wood inhabiting fungi (WIF) and red-listed species. I compared a wildfire chronosequence with a temporal range of 4-375 years since the last disturbance, and a managed chronosequence ranging between 1-109 years since clearcut. I found that young post-disturbance forests showed the highest CWD volumes. On average, burnt forests showed three times higher CWD volumes, albeit with high variability over time. Characteristics of CWD greatly differed, with fire-disturbed forests showing higher amounts of CWD in larger diameter classes and later decomposition stages. I found that CWD volume predicted species richness of WIF similarly in both chronosequences. Fire-disturbed forests generally reached higher values of WIF species richness; however, when comparing species richness per CWD volume, no significant differences were found between the chronosequences. Species composition differed between the chronosequences, attributed to higher occurrences of red-listed wood fungi in the wildfire chronosequence, particularly those associated with Norway spruce CWD. My study highlights the very different impacts of the fire and clear-cut disturbances on WIF in boreal pine-dominated forests and the need for prescribed burnings to generate charred CWD and thus, maintain natural pine-dominated forests and associated wood fungal species. Furthermore, my results demonstrate the importance of young and old growth post-fire stands as landscape-level habitats and species reservoirs, particularly for red-listed fungal species. Importantly, I found an increase in CWD volumes in the managed forest in the youngest managed stands of the chronosequence, likely due to recent CWD retention efforts over the last few decades due to higher environmental concern in forestry.

Keywords: Biodiversity, fire ecology, species richness, wood-inhabiting fungi, dead wood characteristics, red-listed species

Table of contents

| List | of figures | 6 |
|-------|--|----|
| Abbr | reviations | 7 |
| 1. | Introduction | 8 |
| 1.1 | Background | 8 |
| | 1.1.1 The evolution of forestry in boreal Sweden | 9 |
| | 1.1.2 Fire regime in boreal forests | 10 |
| | 1.1.3 Current state of Sweden's forests | 11 |
| | 1.1.4 Dead wood and saproxylic fungi | 12 |
| Aim a | and research questions | 14 |
| 2. | Method | 16 |
| 2.1 | Chronosequences | 16 |
| 2.2 | Study area | 17 |
| 2.3 | Inventory method | 17 |
| 2.4 | Data and statistical analyses | 18 |
| 3. | Results | 21 |
| 3.1 | Dead wood | 21 |
| | 3.1.1 Dead wood volume over time | 21 |
| | 3.1.2 Dead wood characteristics | 22 |
| 3.2 | Dead wood and species richness | 26 |
| | 3.2.1 Dead wood characteristics and species richness | 26 |
| 3.3 | Species richness over time | 28 |
| | 3.3.1 Species density | 29 |
| | 3.3.2 Species composition | 30 |
| 3.4 | Presence of red-listed wood-inhabiting fungi | 31 |
| 4. | Discussion | 32 |
| 4.1 | Dead wood | 32 |
| | 4.1.1 Dead wood volume | 32 |
| | 4.1.2 Dead wood characteristics | 33 |
| | 4.1.3 Dead wood and species richness | 35 |
| 4.2 | Species richness over time | 35 |
| | 4.2.1 Species density | |

| | 4.2.2 Species composition | 37 |
|-------|------------------------------------|----|
| 4.3 | Red-listed species | 37 |
| 4.4 | Implications for forest management | 39 |
| 4.5 | Improvements and limitations | 40 |
| 4.6 | Conclusion | 42 |
| Refer | ences | 43 |
| Popu | lar science summary | 48 |
| Ackn | owledgements | 49 |
| | | |

List of figures

| Figure 1. | A map displaying the forest stands that make up the two chronosequences1 | 7 |
|-----------|--|--------|
| Figure 2: | Displaying dead wood volume over time in both chronosequences2 | 1 |
| Figure 3. | Volume dead wood by tree species for each forest stand in the managed chronosequence | 2 |
| Figure 4. | Volume dead wood by tree species for each site in the fire chronosequence 2 | 3 |
| Figure 5. | Volume dead wood in decay stages for each site in the managed chronosequence | 4 |
| Figure 6. | Volume dead wood in decay stages for each site in the fire chronosequence2 | 4 |
| Figure 7. | Dead wood volume from each site in the managed chronosequence categorize in diameter classes | d 5 |
| Figure 8. | Dead wood volume from each site in the fire chronosequence categorized in diameter classes | 5 |
| Figure 9. | Displaying dead wood volume as a predictor of species richness2 | 6 |
| Figure 10 |). Displaying the relationship between species richness and time2 | 8 |
| Figure 11 | Displaying the relationship between the ratio species richness by dead wood volume and time since disturbance. | 9 |
| Figure 12 | 2. Non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination for presence/absence data3 | 0 |
| Figure 13 | 3. Displaying the relationship between red-listed species and time | 1 |
| | | |

Abbreviations

| CWD | Coarse woody debris |
|-----|---------------------------|
| FC | Fire chronosequence |
| MC | Managed chronosequence |
| WIF | Wood-inhabiting fungi |
| NFI | National forest inventory |
| RF | Retention forestry |
| | |

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

The emergence of climate change as a significant threat to society and global ecosystems has promoted political commitments in transitioning towards a biobased economy in Sweden. The shift entails the usage of biofuels instead of fossil fuels, substituting plastic with pulp-based products and incorporating more timber into construction practices. The shift towards a bioeconomy has placed greater demands on Sweden's forest. Concurrently, these forests are also expected to provide other crucial ecosystem services, such as biodiversity, which are leading to trade-offs and conflicts between these expectations (Lindahl et al. 2017). The intensified forestry practices employed to meet societal demands has resulted in a loss of natural forests, which are being replaced with monocultures. Consequently, there is a decline in forest species that depend on old growth forests (Felton et al. 2020; Skogsstyrelsen 2022).

In the forestry field, a common proposition is that clear-cutting mimics the effects of the natural wildfire disturbance, by setting in motion successional processes that resemble those observed in the aftermath of a wildfire (Skogsindustrierna 2023). However, there are significant distinctions in forest structure and development between succession in natural and managed forests. One of the most noteworthy distinctions is the higher presence of coarse woody debris in a natural forest on which many organisms are dependent (Stokland et al. 2012). Fungi are an organism group with several red-listed species that are dependent on natural forest dynamics (Berg et al. 1995). Wood-inhabiting fungi are saproxylic organisms that rely on the availability of coarse woody debris, and are decreasing as a result of intensified forest management practices (Berg et al. 1995; Artdatabanken 2020). Several fungal taxa are used as indicator species for forest continuity and conservation value in the Nordic countries due to their often specialized substrate requirements and sensitivity to environmental changes (Nitare 2020). Natural forest structures have decreased in forest landscapes where clear-cutting has replaced fire as the main disturbance agent.

1.1.1 The evolution of forestry in boreal Sweden

Forest utilization has a long history in Boreal Sweden. Throughout history, people have been utilising the forest for cattle grazing, reindeer herding, firewood, as well as engaging in slash and burn activities (Östlund & Zackrisson 1998). Prior to the 19th century the major influence on the forests of northern Sweden was connected to various agricultural practices which mostly had a marginal effect on the overall structure of the boreal forest (Esseen et al. 1997; Östlund et al. 1997). Sami forestry has also been important in the inland parts of northern Sweden, but has always been of low intensity (Rautio et al. 2016). However, forest utilization has undergone substantial changes during the last 150 years, leading to a successively more intense impact on the forest landscape (Östlund et al. 1997). The industrial revolution in western Europe led to the establishment of "timber frontiers" in regions with remaining forest resources. In northern Sweden exploitation began around 1850 and expanded northwards during the latter part of the 19th century (Östlund & Norstedt 2021). Initial large-scale logging and exploitation during the late 19th century consisted of logging of the largest trees, hereafter referred to as "high grading". High grading, leading to the removal of the largest trees and subsequent loss of ancient trees, had notable impacts on the ecosystem (Josefsson et al. 2010). Nevertheless, high graded stands in the northern parts of Sweden were still relatively intact in terms of structural diversity. From a biodiversity point of view, the maintained heterogeneous structure and continuity of tree cover of high graded stands were still beneficial for many forest dwelling species. However, even limited cuttings carried out a century ago, has the potential to impact contemporary wood inhabiting fungi in boreal forests, due to impact on the available coarse woody debris (CWD) and the distribution of its decay stages (Josefsson et al. 2010).

A more significant transformation of Swedish forests occurred with the introduction of clear-cutting during the first part of the 20th century (Lundmark 2020), which gained momentum on a larger scale during the 1950s (Östlund et al. 1997), and is up until today the prevailing forest management practice. Clear-cut forestry in Sweden is generally carried out by the removal of all or most trees (with the exception of retention areas), followed by soil scarification and planting of a single tree species. The resulting stands are even-aged monocultures with minimal structural complexity, which has resulted in a long-term decline in the mean age of Swedish forests (Ericsson et al. 2000; Axelsson & Östlund 2001). As a part of the "forest restoration program," previously high graded stands, perceived as low producing left-over forests, were revisited, clear-cut and re-planted (Andersson 2023), which had a significant impact on standing stock in the nation-wide growth stock survey (Riksskogstaxeringen 2023b). Fennoscandian forestry is characterized by its high degree of mechanization and efficiency and almost all forested land is

used for production of saw timber and wood pulp (Esseen et al. 1997). Forestry has transformed the landscape and key characteristic natural forest structures, such as gap dynamics, fire disturbances, forest continuity and CWD, are now missing in large areas of Sweden, resulting in reduced forest complexity (Esseen et al. 1997).

1.1.2 Fire regime in boreal forests

Fire has historically been the main disturbance agent altering the structure and species composition of natural forests (Zackrisson 1977; Östlund et al. 1997; Linder & Östlund 1998). Fire is a naturally occurring phenomenon but has also been used by people for example to promote grazing, thus altering fire frequencies in the past (Cogos 2020). Forest fires in the boreal region were for the most part of low intensity, however fire frequency varied depending on local conditions (Ryan 2002), which resulted in a multi-dimensional landscape mosaic with high structural forest complexity (Zackrisson 1977). Consequently, many native species in the boreal forest have evolved in the presence of frequent forest fires (Esseen et al. 1997; Östlund et al. 1997). However, since the timber frontier in the beginning of the 1880s, forest fires have actively and efficiently been suppressed, and in the middle of the 20th century the total fire impact on the landscape was very limited (Östlund et al. 1997; Niklasson & Granstrom 2000). Hence, fire has been an essential ecosystem process in the boreal region and its suppression has resulted in far reaching consequences for biodiversity. This includes the decline of fire dependant tree species e.g. Salix caprea and Populus tremula and associated wood fungi (Östlund et al. 1997). As a result, prescribed burnings have more recently been re-introduced as a tool to benefit fire dependent organisms, increase dead wood volumes and diversity of dead wood characteristics (Hekkala et al. 2016; Ramberg et al. 2018). The ecological importance of fire in the boreal forest is further highlighted by the requirement for large certified forest owners in Sweden to intentionally burn 5% of their land over a consecutive 5-year period as a way of benefitting fire-dependent species (FSC 2020).

1.1.3 Current state of Sweden's forests

Throughout the 20th century, Swedish forestry has increased the forest growing stock and simultaneously increased the annual harvest (Riksskogstaxeringen 2023b). This achievement is facilitated by a goal driven, production oriented, and rationalized forestry, where measures such as fertilization, clear-cutting, improved plant material and ditching are standard procedures (Jansson et al. 2011). The intensified forestry practices has consequently resulted in an active loss of biological legacies, as well as a transformation of the forest landscape resulting in habitat loss for many forest dwelling species (Felton et al. 2020).

With the 1993 Forestry Act (*SFS (1993:1096)* 1993), an environmental objective was established parallel with the long-standing goal of maintaining a high wood production. Retention forestry (RF) represents the conventional approach to integrate ecological considerations in contemporary clear-cut forestry practices in Sweden. Retention forestry is legally mandated in Sweden and outlined in the international forest certification standards (FSC, PEFC) (Gustafsson et al. 2010).

The overarching objective of RF is to preserve important biological remnants during the logging period, with the aim to sustain biodiversity, structural coherence, and ecosystem functions over long-term forest cycles. This preservation entails safeguarding important substrates such as lying and standing dead wood which require considerable time to develop, leaving single trees, tree patches, buffer zones bordering lakes, watercourses, and mires (Gustafsson et al. 2010). The organisms that benefit the most from retention forestry are ectomycorrhizal fungi, birds, and lichens (Rosenvald & Lõhmus 2008).

Since the introduction of RF, a clear objective has been to increase dead wood volumes in managed forests. A study by Jonsson et al. (2016), looked at how policy and certification schemes have affected the amount of dead wood using NFI data on dead wood volumes across Sweden. They found that during the studied 15-year period, dead wood in managed Swedish forests have increased with on average $1.5m^3 ha^{-1}$ which, due to the low initial volumes, corresponds to a 25% increase. The study concludes that despite the increase, amount of dead wood does not align with the desired rate outlined in policy ambitions. Despite two decades of emphasis on the importance of dead wood, there are limited direct effects of these policy ambitions in practice.

Out of 2044 red-listed forests species, fungi together with lichen amount to 900 species (Skogsstyrelsen 2022). Since the introduction of the Swedish red list in its current form, year 2000, fungal species that are dependent on old growth forests has steadily decreased. The Swedish environmental goal "living forests" is not

being met and the trajectory towards reaching it appears to be heading in the opposite direction (Artdatabanken 2020; Skogsstyrelsen 2022).

1.1.4 Dead wood and saproxylic fungi

In the Nordic countries, approximately 7500 forest species are saproxylic i.e. dependent on dead trees, either throughout their entire life cycle or during specific stages (Stokland et al. 2012). Therefore, the availability of dead wood is the most important factor influencing biodiversity in boreal forests (Esseen et al. 1997). Wood inhabiting fungi as well as many other organisms are dependent on CWD, (including all dead wood over >10cm in diameter; Dahlberg & Stokland 2004). Furthermore, there are critical thresholds in dead wood quantity and stage of decomposition that affects WIF abundance. There are several studies highlighting the importance of dead wood as a predictor of WIF abundance (Penttilä 2004; Ylisirniö et al. 2012). Increasing CWD volume and the numerous species associated with it, is one of the many functional goals of RF identified by (Gustafsson et al. 2010). Therefore, the dynamics of dead wood volume and decomposition plays a crucial role in maintaining a high species diversity in boreal forests (Bader et al. 1995; Sippola & Renvall 1999).

Accumulation of dead wood within a forest stand depends on three primary factors: site productivity, which governs the rate at which CWD is added to the ecosystem, disturbances, which introduces stochastic elements to an otherwise deterministic equilibrium, and stand succession (Harmon et al. 1986). Fundamentally, the long-term average volume at a site is shaped by the average inputs and decay rates, with disturbances playing a pivotal role in this ecological balance (Siitonen 2001).

There are multiple factors that influence the natural disturbance dynamics in a forest stand. These factors range from stand location, water availability and tree species composition (Ryan 2002). *Pinus sylvestris* has evolved with fire and can consequently survive and benefit from forest fires by developing defence mechanisms such as thick bark and high canopy during its mature life stage (Keeley 2012). In response to damage, pine develops wood rich in resin, commonly known in Swedish as "Kelo" wood. The slow decay rate of pine wood, attributed to its natural richness in tar, creates important substrates for species with different successional niches (Niemelä et al. 2002). In Sweden, a pine can live up to 800 years, and continue standing as dead wood for many decades after it has died. Eventually, as lying dead wood, it slowly decays on the forest floor, utilized by various species throughout these stages (Ehnström 2017). In other words, the substrate delivery time for the most specialized saproxylic fungi and beetles is long. In terms of biodiversity, around 200 beetles are almost fully dependant on pine

CWD. Furthermore, 68 species of butterflies, 500 species of wood inhabiting fungi, and at least 200 mycorrhizal fungal species are pine associated (Ehnström 2017). *Picea abies,* Norway spruce, is more susceptible to rot, and prone to wind damage due to its shallow root system (Ehnström 2017). Therefore, type of disturbance and tree species composition has a big impact on the available dead wood in a forest stand.

Site productivity refers to a biogeographic gradient impacting the deterministic balance of dead wood accumulation. A colder climate and shorter growing seasons result in a lower forest productivity in Fennoscandia's boreal forests, compared to the temperate regions of Europe. Furthermore, productivity varies greatly within Fennoscandia, with the southern parts belonging to the hemi-boreal vegetation zone and northern Sweden belonging to the boreal biome. As a result, productivity potentially reaches around 10 m³ ha⁻¹ in the south declining towards <1m³ ha⁻¹ in the northern scrublands and timberlines (Ahti et al. 1968; Siitonen 2001).

In Sweden's contemporary forest landscape, dead wood volumes greatly differ between primary forests and managed forests. There are estimates of the general CWD volume in old growth forests to range between 60-90 m³ ha⁻¹ in southern Fennoscandia, decreasing towards 20 m³ ha⁻¹ closer to the tree line (Siitonen 2001). The corresponding amount for managed forests, ranges between 2-10 m³ ha⁻¹ depending on the region (Jonsson et al. 2016). In productive forest land in Sweden the national average of dead wood lies around 6 m³ ha⁻¹, however with significant geographical variation (Fridman & Walheim 1997). In a European context, the current dead wood volumes in managed forests generally amount to 10% of natural forest levels (Stokland et al. 2012). The 7500 saproxylic species in Fennoscandia has seen the amount of deadwood i.e. their habitat, reduced with over 90% in the managed forest landscape of Fennoscandia (Siitonen 2001).

The effect of forest management on CWD and WIF is well documented and the removal of substrate has been shown to reduce species richness and abundance, as well as reducing the amount of red-listed saproxylic fungi (Junninen & Komonen 2011). However, Sippola & Renvall (1999) showed that there is variability among old growth indicator species and their ecological tolerance towards the effects of logging. Wood inhabiting fungi known for preferring old growth forest habitats can survive for extended periods in managed forests, given that they were present before the cutting and their substrate was left intact. However, the species diversity of WIF is heavily reliant on the availability and diversity of decaying dead wood prior to any management practices. Furthermore, a continuous input of CWD is crucial to sustain communities of wood inhabiting fungi in the long-term.

At the stand scale, volume CWD has been shown to be the most important factor in determining species abundance. At the substrate scale, later decomposition stages are acknowledged of having special importance for red-listed species, as supported by studies such as Junninen & Komonen (2011); Ylisirniö et al. (2012). Additionally, size distribution is another important factor explaining what species assemblages occupy dead wood (Juutilainen et al. 2011). The occurrence of red-listed species appears to be closely linked to the presence of large diameter logs in boreal forests (Bader et al. 1995; Sippola et al. 2001; Hottola et al. 2009). According to Juutilainen et al. (2014), earlier research on the effects of forest management on wood inhabiting fungi has concentrated on CWD, even though it has been demonstrated that a substantial part of fungal species also utilize small dead wood pieces.

This thesis is based on data collected from two pine dominated forest chronosequences (age since disturbance gradients) which allows for highly detailed and comprehensive measurements within a carefully defined system. The first chronosequence for this study consists of managed pine forests spanning 110 years since some form of even-aged forest management was initiated, and the second age gradient is a pine dominated natural wildfire chronosequence ranging from 4 to 375 years since a stand replacing wildfire.

Aim and research questions

The purpose of the study is to gain a better understanding of how forestry in Sweden is affecting WIF over time by examining and comparing the abundance of selected fungal taxa in managed and burned forest stands. Many WIF are commonly used as indicator species for identification of primary forests due to their specialized substrate requirements and sensitivity to logging. Consequently, this taxonomic group serves as a compelling subject for long-term investigation into frequency dynamics and alterations in habitat requirements over time following management and natural disturbance. Utilizing two forest chronosequences (representing time since forest fire and time since clearcutting), with data on recorded fungal species, dead wood volume and its characteristics, this study aims to contribute to a better understanding of the temporal dimension and ecological prerequisites after a disturbance, influencing species diversity and red-listed species of WIF, and at what point in time fungal biodiversity is maximized. The questions I will explore are:

• How are the volume and characteristics, i.e., decay stage and diameter class, of CWD developing over time in a managed and wildfire forest chronosequence?

I hypothesize that dead wood volume will vary over time, having higher values initially after the disturbances followed by a decrease, and over time start to increase again. Furthermore, I hypothesize that known important dead wood characteristics such as diameter class and decay stage will greatly differ between the chronosequences and that the wildfire chronosequence will have higher dead wood volumes, greater dead wood tree species diversity and larger dead wood trunks than the managed chronosequence.

• How does stand level species richness and presence of red-listed species differ between a managed and wildfire chronosequence, and how is that related to diversity in dead wood characteristics? Does species richness per dead wood piece (species density) show similar values between the chronosequences over time?

I hypothesize that both species richness and species density will be higher in the wildfire chronosequence, due to higher CWD volumes in larger diameter classes and in later decay stages compared to in the managed chronosequence.

• How does fungal species composition differ between a managed and wildfire chronosequence, and are these differences related to variation in the presence of rare red-listed wood-inhabiting fungi?

I hypothesize that species composition will differ between the chronosequences whereby the presence of rare red-listed species will be higher in the wildfire chronosequence due to higher dead wood volumes and heterogenous CWD characteristics.

2. Method

2.1 Chronosequences

This thesis was based on data collected from two forest chronosequences (age since disturbance gradients). Each chronosequence was comprised of 18 stands located around Arvidsjaur, Norrbotten County (Figure 1). Most of the stands are owned by the state-owned forest company Sveaskog, however some of the fire stands are in nature reserves and managed by the county board. Studying chronosequences, allows for highly detailed and comprehensive measurements within a carefully defined system. The first chronosequence for this study consisted of managed pine forests spanning 110 years since some form of even-aged forest management was initiated. The managed stands have been subject to common silvicultural measures practiced in Sweden, such as pre-commercial thinning and thinning. The second age gradient was a pine dominated natural wildfire chronosequence ranging from 4 to 375 years since a wildfire. The wildfire intensity has varied across the stands and the chronosequence was generally representative of the range of variability in fire severity in boreal-pine forests. Additionally, there were some traces of selective logging in some of the older fire-stands and information on management history was provided by Sveaskog.

The stands selected for the chronosequences were filtered in a geographical information system (GIS) framework based on fulfilling the criteria of mesic soil moisture and pine dominance. They were characterized by a consistent ground vegetation profile, consisting of different ericaceous dwarf shrubs (*V. myrtillus, V. vitius ideaea*, and *E. hermaphroditum*) as well as feather mosses. Furthermore, the selection process aimed for the stands to be grouped in clusters, situated in close proximity to each other. As a result, each chronosequence was equally dispersed on the landscape (Figure 1). Studying chronosequences allows for powerful comparisons in how ecosystem services develop over time since a major disturbance, and how forestry versus wildfire disturbances affect those services (Gudrunsson 2013; Clemmensen et al. 2015; Stokland 2021). The project primarily focused on biodiversity change by examining wood-inhabiting fungi diversity from these two chronosequences, with the aim to contribute towards a better

understanding of the temporal scales in the recovery, survivability, and dynamics of different fungal taxa after disturbance, and how their abundance varies in a managed versus a wildfire chronosequences.



2.2 Study area

Figure 1. Location of forest stands that make up the two chronosequences. Fire stands are marked as orange and managed stands as blue. The right side of the figure depicts Sweden's county borders, and the square emphasizes the specific area of interest. Copyright for the overview map belongs to Lantmäteriet and the county borders to SCB.

2.3 Inventory method

This study was conducted based on data from a single fruiting body survey carried out for two weeks over 10-15th and 24-29th of September 2023. The inventory was carried out in 36 stands of 1 ha across northern Sweden (Figure 1). The stands each had 5 permanent subplots with a radius of 10 m located in the center and intercardinal corners of the stand. In each subplot, measurements of CWD and inventory of WIF growing on CWD were carried out. The data collection was facilitated by using ESRI field map and then exported to excel.

For the CWD measurement, all lying dead wood above >10 cm in diameter on the largest end, as well as >1 meter long was recorded with three measurements: bottom diameter, top diameter, and length. This was used to calculate the volume of each log in m³, representing a conical frustum. For each measured log, the species was recorded and a decomposition grade (decay class) was estimated based on a graded scale of 0-4 according to Riksskogstaxeringen (2023a), where 0 = Fresh wood, 1 =Hard wood, 2 = Partly decomposed. 3 = decomposed, 4 = Highly decomposed. On each measured log, presence (True/False) of each observed WIF was recorded, treating each species found on a CWD unit as a single record, regardless of the number of fruiting bodies. Observed WIF were identified in the field whenever possible. If identification was not possible in the field, a specimen was collected and later identified in lab with the aid of literature and microscope. A total of 48 specimen of WIF required further identification in the laboratory, which had not been identified at the time of my thesis and were subsequently excluded from the presented analysis. Twenty-eight of these specimens belonged to the wildfire chronosequence and were scattered evenly throughout the stands. The remaining 20 specimens belonged to the managed forests, with 10 recorded in M13 and 5 in M1a, with the remaining 5 evenly recorded across the managed chronosequence.

2.4 Data and statistical analyses

Latin name and conservation status for the recorded WIF was collected from artdatabanken (Artdatabanken 2023). Red-listed species included both threatened (VU, EN) and near threatened (NT) species. The data originated from 36 stands with 5 plots each. I added the data from each plot together resulting in stand level summaries for the dependent variables: species richness, red-listed species and volume dead wood.

The explanatory variable "time since disturbance" was derived from the different sites that were named either F(Fire) or M(Managed) followed by a number indicating elapsed time since the occurrence of the mentioned disturbances. Dead wood volume was summarized per site and upscaled into volume per hectare using the following equation:

Volume $(m^3) \div$ *sample plot area* $(m^2) * 5 * 10000 (m^2)$.

Species richness was standardized per volume of CWD by dividing Species richness with dead wood volume, which resulted in the response variable species density, used in one of the models.

To test how CWD volume development over time was different between the chronosequences, I applied a quadratic polynomial linear model using the R statistical software (Im package with a second-degree polynomial; R Core Team 2023). When exploring the data, it became evident that the variables showed a nonlinear relationship that could not be fully captured by a simple linear regression. Thus, I decided to use polynomial linear models instead of simple linear regression models because the inclusion of a quadratic term achieved higher adjusted R-squared values, indicating a better fit to the data. The following polynomial model was applied:

 $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X + \beta_2 X^2 + \beta_3 Z + \beta_4 X \cdot Z + \beta_5 X^2 \cdot Z + \varepsilon.$

In which the dependant variable Y was represented by either: Volume (m³), volume per ha (m³ ha⁻¹), species richness, species density and red-listed species. β_0 =Intercept, $\beta_1 X$ = linear (time since disturbance or volume per ha (m³ ha⁻¹)), $\beta_2 X^2$ =Quadratic (time since disturbance or volume per ha (m³ ha⁻¹)), $\beta_3 Z$ = A binary dummy variable that takes the value of either 0 or 1, representing "wildfire" or "managed", $\beta_4 X \cdot Z$ = Interaction term, $\beta_5 X^2 \cdot Z$ = Quadratic interaction term, ϵ =Error term that is assumed to be normally distributed. All polynomial models were tested for interaction effects, however if there were no statistically significant interactions, the simplest model with the best R-squared was chosen. We report in the text the R2 for the full model as well as R2 for the individual fits for either the wildfire or managed regressions.

I examined differences in dead wood characteristics by comparing descriptive statics of dead wood by tree species, diameter class and decay stages between the chronosequences. I summarized the stands F4a, F4b, F56a, F56b, M1a and M1b, to improve the visualization on CWD characteristics. Furthermore, to test for relationships between dead wood characteristics and species richness, I applied simple linear regressions (Im package), testing the relationships between species richness (response variable) and dead wood volume in various decay and diameter classes (considered as explanatory variables) using R statistical software (R Core Team 2023).

To test how volume dead wood predicted species richness I applied the same quadratic polynomial model as previously mentioned. The stand M13 was deemed an outlier due to significantly high dead wood volume and low species richness and therefore excluded from the model. Red-listed species and species density was also examined using the polynomial quadratic model.

To test whether species composition differed between the two chronosequences, I applied a non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination via the vegan package (Oksanen et al. 2022). NMDS is a means of visualising the similarity of

individual sites. The analysis was based on bray-curtis dissimilarities conducted on presence/absence data of WIF from the 36 sites. Stress-values were assessed to determine the number of dimensions for the NMDS. A stress value of 0.129 was reached with a three-dimensional NMDS using 42 tries. Differences in species composition between managed and primary forest were tested with a pairwise comparison test (PERMANOVA), adjusted using Bonferroni corrected values, via the vegan package (Oksanen et al. 2022). Species were abbreviated using the first three letters of genus and species name, including conservation category, and the "plot" function in R was used to generate a visual representation of the species with a significance p < 0.05, derived from using the function "envfit" (Oksanen et al. 2022). The presence of red-listed WIF between the chronosequences was further assessed by examining a table generated from the dataset. The table, summarizing the occurrences of red-listed WIF across the studied stands, is provided in Appendix 1.

The raw excel data was imported into R studio (version 4.3.1, R Core Team 2023), where most of the summary statistics (dplr package, Wickham et al. 2023), and all statistical analyses were conducted. All figures were made using the ggplot package (Wickham 2016) and base R (R Core Team 2023).

3. Results

3.1 Dead wood

3.1.1 Dead wood volume over time

The values of dead wood volume were highest in the fire chronosequence (FC) (Figure 2). These values reached a mean of 57 (\pm 37 SD) m³ ha⁻¹ (max 127 m³ ha⁻¹, min 5 m³ ha⁻¹). Corresponding figures for the managed chronosequence (MC) were mean 20 (\pm 16 SD) m3 ha⁻¹ (max 71 m³ ha⁻¹, min 0.5 m³ ha⁻¹). Both time after disturbance (p=0.04) and type of chronosequence (p<0.01) were significant predictors of dead wood volume, however, the model's explanation power was rather low (R_{adj}²=0.3488), (MC, R²=-0.17, FC, R²=0.19). Initial dead wood volumes were high for both MC and FC immediately after disturbance. Over time, dead wood volume decreased in the MC however exhibiting variability (Figure 2). In the FC, dead wood volume, also declined until ~200 years, after which it started increasing, gradually reaching the initial post disturbance values, and thereby following a U-shape.



Figure 2: Dead wood volume over time from two chronosequences, each comprised of 18 forest stands located in the Arvidsjaur region. Predicted values are represented by lines and original data plotted for reference, whereby the fire stands are indicated with orange and managed blue.

3.1.2 Dead wood characteristics

Dead wood by tree species

The managed chronosequence (MC) had greater CWD tree species diversity compared to the fire chronosequence (FC). In terms of CWD volume, pine was the dominating tree species in the MC (Figure 3). Generally, there were higher amounts of broadleaved species in the following 24 years after disturbance compared to the later temporal stages of the MC. Spruce CWD appeared after ~ 100 years and gradually became a greater proportion of total CWD. Overall, pine CWD still dominated throughout the chronosequence.



Figure 3. Dead wood volume by tree species for each forest stand in the managed chronosequence. Each site is represented by the letter M as in "managed", followed by a number representing time passed since disturbance (clear-cut).

The fire chronosequence (FC), had a higher proportion of CWD in different tree species compared to MC (Figure 4). Most notable was spruce CWD which occurred throughout the chronosequence; initial spruce volumes were high, however decreased gradually and reached the lowest volumes around 100 years after disturbance, following the same trend as the general CWD volume for all tree species. Spruce CWD reappeared again after around 121 years and then gradually increased up until the end of the chronosequence.



Figure 4. Dead wood volume by tree species for each site in the fire chronosequence. Each site is represented by the letter F as in Fire, followed by a number representing time since disturbance (fire).

Dead wood by decay stages

Generally, in the MC, the two dominating decomposition stages of CWD were hard and partly decomposed. Immediately after disturbance, there were higher volumes of hard CWD compared to the other decay classes, transitioning into partly decomposed and decomposed after 13 years (Figure 5). Higher volumes of very decomposed CWD as a proportion of other decay classes were found between 30 and 60 years after disturbance. Following 65 years after disturbance, hard CWD increased until the oldest stands in the chronosequence. In general, the volume of fresh CWD was low.



Figure 5. Dead wood volume in decay stages for each site in the managed chronosequence. Each site is represented by the letter M as in managed, followed by a number representing time passed since disturbance (clear-cut).

In the FC, after disturbance, initial decay stages of CWD primarily consisted of the stages hard, partly decomposed and very decomposed (Figure 6). This was the case up until 50 years, after which decomposed wood made up a big proportion until 100 years. Generally, the FC had higher volumes of CWD in decay stage 4 compared to the MC. Very decomposed dead wood was dominant up until 56 years after disturbance, after which it started declining. After \sim 100 years, decay stages hard and partly decomposed increased in their relative proportions and continued to do so until the end of the chronosequence. In general, fresh dead wood was low throughout the chronosequence, with the most noteworthy presence occurring in the oldest stand.



Figure 6. Dead wood volume in decay stages for each site in the fire chronosequence. Each site is represented by the letter F as in Fire, followed by a number representing time since disturbance (fire).

Dead wood by diameter classes

In the MC, the relative proportions of medium and small diameter classes were similar throughout the chronosequence (Figure 7). The largest diameter class occurred in lesser proportions, although it was represented in most of the stands. There was a gradual increase of CWD input in the diameter classes medium and large in the later temporal stages of the MC.



Figure 7. Dead wood volume from each site in the managed chronosequence categorized in diameter classes. Each site is represented by the letter M as in managed, followed by a number representing time passed since disturbance (clear-cut).

The FC had greater proportions of CWD in larger diameter classes compared to the MC (Figure 8). Most of the volume large CWD was found in the first few decades after a disturbance. Large CWD was notably low during the following 150 years, where after it gradually started increasing 260 years after disturbance and until the end of the chronosequence.



Figure 8. Dead wood volume from each site in the fire chronosequence categorized in diameter classes. Each site is represented by the letter F as in Fire, followed by a number representing time since disturbance (fire).

3.2 Dead wood and species richness

Dead wood volume was found to be a significant factor in explaining species richness ($R_{adj}^2=0.76$, p<0.001, n=36), and the model showed a good fit for both chronosequences (MC R²=0.54, FC R²=0.78). The chronosequences showed very similar trends, with dead wood positively predicting species richness. Species richness increased with dead wood volume up to ~ 50 m³ ha⁻¹ in the managed chronosequence (MC) (Figure 9). In the FC chronosequence, species richness increased up to ~ 90 m³ ha⁻¹, after which it reached a breaking point, and eventually started declining (Figure 9). In general, the FC reached both higher values of species richness and dead wood volumes when comparing the chronosequences.



Figure 9. Dead wood volume as a predictor of species richness. Dead wood volume and species richness values originated from two chronosequences, each comprised of 18 forest stands located in the Arvidsjaur region. The figure displays predicted values represented by lines and original data plotted for reference, whereby the fire stands are indicated with orange and managed blue.

3.2.1 Dead wood characteristics and species richness

Decay stage

The linear regressions carried out on dead wood volume in specific decay stages, as a predictor of species richness, showed variability in explanation power and fit (Table 1). In the MC, dead wood volume in decay stages 1 and 4 provided the most robust prediction for species richness. In FC, all dead wood decay stages were significantly related to species richness (Table 1).

Table 1. Results from linear regressions examining the relationship between species richness and dead wood volume in the different decay stages. Most relationships were positive except for decay stage "fresh" in the managed column which could not be conducted due to limited observations (Not applicable = NA). Significance levels are denoted as follows: *** <0.001** <0.01 * <0.05, non-significance expressed as NS.

| Decay stage | Managed | n | р | Fire | n | р |
|----------------------|--------------|----|-----|--------------|----|-----|
| 0-Fresh | NA | 0 | NA | $R^2 = 0.57$ | 7 | * |
| 1-Hard | $R^2 = 0.59$ | 15 | *** | $R^2 = 0.39$ | 17 | ** |
| 2-Partly | $R^2 = 0.16$ | 17 | NS | $R^2 = 0.54$ | 18 | *** |
| accomposed 3- | $R^2 = 0.17$ | 14 | NS | $R^2 = 0.56$ | 18 | *** |
| Decomposed | | | | | | |
| 4-Very decomposed | $R^2 = 0.32$ | 16 | * | $R^2 = 0.35$ | 16 | ** |

Diameter class

In the fire chronosequence, the volume of CWD within the diameter classes small (10-20 cm), medium (20-30 cm), and large (>30 cm) were significant predictors of species richness (Table 2). Conversely, in the managed chronosequence, volume of CWD within the small and medium diameter classes were identified as significant predictors.

Table 2. Results from linear regressions examining the relationship between species richness and dead wood volume in specific diameter classes. All relations were positive. Significance levels are denoted as follows: *** < 0.001 ** < 0.01 *< 0.05, non-significance expressed as NS.

| Diameter (cm) | Managed | n | р | Fire | n | р |
|------------------|---------------|----|-----|----------------------|----|----|
| 10-20 | $R^2 = 0.61$ | 18 | *** | $R^2 = 0.32$ | 18 | ** |
| 20-30 | $R^2 = 0.63$ | 18 | *** | $R^2 = 0.25$ | 18 | * |
| >30 | $R^2 = 0.025$ | 13 | NS | R ² =0.36 | 15 | * |

3.3 Species richness over time

Values of species richness in the fire chronosequence (FC) were on average 12 (\pm 3.8 SD), (max 20). In the managed chronosequence corresponding values were mean 7 (\pm 3.3 SD) (max 13). Species richness was significantly related to time since disturbance $(R_{adi}^2 = 0.49, p = 0.019, n = 36)$, (MC, R²=0.31, FC, R²=0.32). Immediately after disturbance, initial values of species richness did not significantly differ between the two chronosequences (p=0.1). After disturbance there was an initial decrease, followed by an increase of species richness in both chronosequences. However, the increasing trend occurred at different temporal stages in the two chronosequences; around 50 years after clear cut and 150 years after fire, respectively (Figure 10). After 50 years in the MC, species richness started to increase back towards the same levels as immediately after clear-cut, at around 109 years, resulting in a U-shaped curve. Further, there was an interactive effect of time since disturbance and chronosequence type (p=0.02), whereby the species richness decreased less rapidly in the initial stages after fire, reached its minimum values at around 100-200 years following fire, after which it increased towards greater species richness values than in the MC.



Figure 10. Relationship between species richness and time. Species richness values originate from two chronosequences, each comprised of 18 forest stands located in the Arvidsjaur region. The independent variable time since disturbance, ranged between 4 and 375 years in the FC, and 1 and 109 years in the MC. The figure displays predicted values represented by lines and original data plotted for reference. Fire stands are highlighted in orange, and managed stands in blue.

3.3.1 Species density

Time had no significant effect on the variable species density (p=0.35). Additionally, the model showed no significant difference between the chronosequences when comparing the species density, however, with low explanation power ($R_{adj}^2 = 0.02$, p = 0.14, n = 36), (MC R²=-0.02, FC R²=0.17). Suggesting that species richness per unit dead wood was similar between the chronosequences (Figure 11). There was a tendency for the ratio to be higher in the managed stands. After ~ 200 years in the FC, the ratio started decreasing.



Figure 11. Relationship between species density and time since disturbance from the two chronosequences comprised of 18 stands each, disturbed by either fire or management. The figure displays predicted values represented by lines and original data plotted for reference. Stands disturbed by fire are highlighted in orange and stands disturbed my management in blue.

3.3.2 Species composition

The non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis of species composition revealed distinct fungal community differences between the managed and fire chronosequences (Figure 12). Additionally, the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) confirmed that the two groups were significantly different (F=2.78 p<0.02). The species that were most strongly associated with the fire chronosequence (FC) were *Fuscoporia viticola* and *Rhodofomes roseus*, with the latter exclusively occurring in the FC. *Trichaptum abietinum*, *Postia sericeomollis* and *Anomoporia kamtschatica* occurred in both chronosequences.



Figure 12. Non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination for presence/absence data (NMDS: stress value= 0.129) of fungal species composition. Circles represent fire sites and triangles represent managed sites. Colored polygons represent the standard error for the grouping based on managed or fire, blue represents managed stands and orange represents fire stands. Abbreviations derived from first three letters of genus and species name, including conservation category.

3.4 Presence of red-listed wood-inhabiting fungi

Mean red-listed species per stand in the fire chronosequence (FC) were 2.8 (\pm 2.2 SD), (max 9, min 0 and median 2.5). In the managed chronosequence, MC, the corresponding figures were mean 0.89 (\pm 0.96 SD), (max 2, min 0, and median 0.5). The model's prediction underscored a significant temporal influence on red-listed species (Figure 13; R_{adj}^2 =0.4735, p=0.002). Similar to the species richness pattern (Figure 10), red-listed species exhibited an initial decrease, followed by an increase, notably after around 180 years in FC, and reached the max value of red-listed species at the latest temporal stage after disturbance.

Furthermore, a significant difference (p=0.031) was observed between the two chronosequences concerning the presence of red-listed species, (MC R²=-0.24, FC R²=0.47). In the FC, red-listed species ranged between 0 and 9 species and in the MC, between 0 and 2 species. The red-listed species that were present in the MC, were *Anomoporia kamtschatica* NT, *Anthoporia albobrunnea* VU, *Siderna lenis* VU, *Postia lateritia* VU, *phellinidium ferrugineofuscum* NT. With *Anomoporia kamtschatica* being the most frequent.



Figure 13. Relationship between red-listed species and time since disturbance for the two different chronosequences. Presence of red-listed species originate from two chronosequences, each comprised of 18 forest stands located in the Arvidsjaur region. Predicted values are represented by lines and original data are plotted for reference. Fire stands are highlighted in orange, and managed stands in blue.

4. Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine how the disturbances of forest management and fire affects WIF over time, considering that the two disturbances are often proposed as having similar impact on boreal forest ecosystems. This was achieved through a comparative analysis of a managed and a wildfire forest chronosequence, examining how species richness and red-listed species of fungal taxa differed. Managed forests generally had lower species richness and lower presence of red-listed species compared to forests disturbed by fire. When comparing the ratio of species richness to dead wood volume, no significant differences were found. However, the species composition did differ between the chronosequences. The differences in species richness and composition could be explained by ecological predictors such as dead wood volume and diversity in dead wood characteristics. The fire chronosequence showed higher dead wood volumes compared to the managed chronosequence, however, with high variability over time in both chronosequences. Furthermore, dead wood characteristics greatly differed in terms of diameter distribution, tree species type and decay stage, potentially explaining the observed dissimilarity in fungal diversity and composition.

4.1 Dead wood

4.1.1 Dead wood volume

In line with my hypothesis, dead wood volume was on average three times higher in the fire chronosequence (FC) compared to the managed chronosequence (MC). However, as expected, dead wood volumes showed high variability over time (Figure 2). As I hypothesized, dead wood volume was initially high immediately after a fire, ranging between values from ~ 6 m³ ha⁻¹ to ~100 m³ ha⁻¹, resulting in a mean volume of ~ 60 m³ ha⁻¹ during the first 50 years. These volumes are slightly higher compared to what has been reported previously (e.g. Ylisirniö et al. 2012), who found dead wood volume on young post fire sites to be 38.5 ± 21.7 m³ ha⁻¹. It has previously been shown that dead wood volumes in boreal forests usually peak in the early successional stages, however, fire intensity and pre fire forest structure highly impacts the outcome (Uotila et al. 2001; Ylisirniö et al. 2012). In the middle temporal stages of the FC, dead wood volume decreased, reaching its minimum values, resulting in a U-shaped line (Figure 2). Similar trends has been observed in previous studies on dead wood dynamics in boreal forests (Clark et al. 1998; Siitonen 2001). The observed decrease in dead wood over time is commonly linked to the decomposition of existing dead wood. Dead wood volume typically starts to increase again after larger trees from the original pioneer cohort begin to die (Luyssaert et al. 2008; Aakala 2010). The dead wood volumes of the old growth stands in FC ranged between 60 and 80 m³ ha⁻¹, which is in line with estimates from other studies from the boreal biome (Siitonen 2001; Hekkala et al. 2016).

The average CWD volume in the MC was substantially higher compared to other studies on the subject (Fridman & Walheim 1997; Uotila et al. 2001; Ylisirniö et al. 2012). I also found that dead wood volumes in the early temporal stages of the MC are much higher compared to the middle temporal stages (Figure 3), which could potentially be attributed to logging residues and retention forestry, which has developed during the last decades in forest management (Gustafsson et al. 2010, 2012). Further, the dead wood volume in the older managed stands are in line with similar studies on the subject (Ylisirniö et al. 2012).

To summarise, the disturbances fire or clear cut had different impacts on the availability of dead wood volume throughout the chronosequences. Forests disturbed by fire had on average three times higher CWD volumes compared to clear cut forests. Young post-fire forests had higher CWD volumes, illustrating the importance of fire as a disturbance to create habitat for saproxylic organisms. The managed chronosequence had surprisingly high dead wood volumes in the first decades after management, a result that could potentially be explained by implemented retention practices stemming from the 1993 forestry act.

4.1.2 Dead wood characteristics

In general, the managed chronosequence (MC) showed homogeneity in terms of wood characteristics compared to the fire chronosequence (FC) (Figure 3-8). Higher volumes of spruce CWD throughout the FC was observed when comparing CWD by tree species. The diversity of CWD tree species in the FC is potentially explained by the pre-disturbance stand structure, potentially influenced by previous low intensity forest fires that led to a pine dominated forest with a relatively high proportion of spruce, which would explain the high volumes of spruce CWD observed in the FC. Spruce CWD in the later successional stages can partly be

explained by the successive ingrowth and mortality of spruce (Engelmark 1987). Low CWD tree species diversity in the MC also illustrates the efficiency of clearcutting in favouring selected tree-species.

There were notable differences between the chronosequences in CWD decay stage distribution (Figure 5-6). The first few decades after a disturbance, the fire chronosequence (FC) generally had higher CWD volumes in the later decay stages compared to the managed chronosequence (MC). While not measured in this study, a potential reason behind the low volumes of CWD in later decay stages in the MC, is that pre-disturbance CWD could have been damaged during harvesting, which could have accelerated the breakdown of wood or altered the decomposition dynamics. In the FC, CWD volume was more evenly distributed among the different decay stages. The heterogeneity of the decomposition stages in the FC, suggests that there is a wider variety of substrates which allows for a greater diversity of WIF occupying different successional niches. My results also point to how different decay stages differ in their predictive capacity in relation to species richness of WIF. In the FC, all decomposition stages were significant predictors of species richness, however the later stages of decomposition showed stronger relationships with species richness compared to the earlier decay stages. These findings align with prior studies, highlighting that at the substrate scale, decay stage is the strongest determinant for species richness. Furthermore, the later decomposition stages are acknowledged of having special importance for red-listed WIF in boreal forests, which were more frequent in the FC, as supported by (Junninen & Komonen 2011; Ylisirniö et al. 2012). These studies contribute to the conclusion that dead wood in advanced decomposition stages significantly influences the presence of red-listed species in boreal forests.

Diameter class has also been acknowledged as an important CWD characteristic explaining species richness, with special importance for red-listed species (Bader et al. 1995; Hottola et al. 2009). My results showed that the diameter classes "small" and "medium" were important predictors of species richness in both chronosequences. Furthermore, CWD >30 cm was an important predictor in explaining species richness in the fire chronosequence (Table 2).

The two disturbances had widely different impacts on dead wood characteristics in the forest stands. In general, forests disturbed by fire displayed higher heterogeneity with greater dead wood volumes in larger diameter classes and later decomposition stages. These are characteristics that have been suggested as prerequisites for red-listed wood fungi in Sweden's boreal forests (Hottola et al. 2009; Junninen & Komonen 2011; Ylisirniö et al. 2012).

4.1.3 Dead wood and species richness

Dead wood volume was shown to be a strong determinant in species richness of WIF (Figure 7). These results align with prior studies suggesting that diversity of local species richness of WIF is strongly correlated with quantity of CWD (Junninen & Komonen 2011). Furthermore, it has been shown that the correlation between dead wood volume and species richness of saproxylic organisms is stronger in the boreal biome compared to the temperate biome (Lassauce et al. 2011). It is worth mentioning that while increased dead wood volume is beneficial for saproxylic organisms, the stage of decay is likely more influential in determining what species can occupy it (Hekkala et al. 2016).

Ylisirniö et al. (2012), found a non-linear relationship between CWD volume and species richness, with a breaking point in the increase of species richness at around 35 m³ ha⁻¹. I identified a breaking point of species richness at ~ 90 m³ ha⁻¹ (Figure 9), and the differences in breaking points could potentially be attributed to higher dead wood volumes and different tree species composition in my study system. Although not specifically examined in this study, previous findings have shown a breaking point for the occurrence of red-listed WIF in spruce forests at around 20 m³ ha⁻¹ (Penttilä 2004). Furthermore, in boreal forests, there are estimates of a general threshold value of 20-30 m³ ha⁻¹, for the maintenance of saproxylic organisms (Müller & Bütler 2010).

Collectively, these findings suggest that on a stand scale, CWD volume is an important determinant in explaining species richness in boreal forests. Furthermore, my results show that species richness can increase with dead wood volume up to much higher values than previously shown.

4.2 Species richness over time

In line with the hypothesis, the fire chronosequence (FC) generally had higher species richness compared to the managed chronosequence (MC). This result can partially be attributed to higher CWD volumes (Figure 10). I previously showed that volume of CWD was a significant predictor of species richness in both chronosequences (Figure 9), and the species richness trends over time mirrors that of the dead wood volume.

Immediately after a fire, depending on intensity and extent, dead wood volume has been shown to increase and create a supply of dead wood for at least 50-70 years, providing new input of habitat and substrate allowing for new species to colonize, and the development of new fungal communities (Dahlberg 2002; Ylisirniö et al. 2012). However, wildfire can also have a destructive short-term effect on fungal communities by destroying fungal mycelia and reducing inoculum potential by consuming CWD (Penttilä 2004). Previous studies have identified changes in fungal communities on dead wood a few years after a fire compared to the pre-fire fungal community (Olsson & Jonsson 2010; Berglund et al. 2011).

Hence, my results point to reduction of dead wood due to decomposition, over time since disturbance, together with a reduction in new input of dead wood, being a likely driver of my findings of a decline in species richness up until ~70 years for the MC and ~190 years for the FC. After these time points, a gradual increase in CWD contributed to an increase in species richness in the FC. Despite a noted decrease in dead wood volume in the MC (Figure 2), there was an observed increase in species richness (Figure 10). This finding is interesting and calls for further investigation into the specific species recorded and their substrate requirements, which could provide insights into the dynamics of WIF in older managed forests.

4.2.1 Species density

I found no support for my hypothesis that species density would be higher in the fire chronosequence, which suggests that species richness per unit dead wood was similar between the chronosequences. Species density decreased with time in the older stands in the FC, a result potentially explained by dead wood volume increasing at a disproportionally higher rate resulting in reduced species density. This also raises the question whether the absence of appropriate CWD characteristics prevented species richness from reaching higher values. Dead wood volume in more advanced decay stages is proportionately smaller compared to the other decay stages (Figure 6). This finding is noteworthy since old growth woodinhabiting fungal species are known to prefer large trunks in medium or advanced decay stages (Sippola & Renvall 1999; Josefsson et al. 2010). A more heterogeneous distribution of decay stages would have resulted in a greater habitat diversity and potentially more species. In the FC, old stumps gave evidence of past forest management in some of the later successional stands. Limited cuttings carried out a century ago, has continuous impact on WIF in boreal forests, due to impact on the available CWD and the distribution of its decay stages (Josefsson et al. 2010). Hence, it is likely that without any human interference, CWD volumes would be higher in the old growth stands and distributed more evenly in the different decay stages. This could facilitate species that can occupy diverse successional niches.

4.2.2 Species composition

The NMDS analysis highlighted a significant difference in species composition between managed and fire-disturbed forests which was in line with the hypothesis. The fire chronosequence generally displayed higher dead wood volumes, and a greater diversity of dead wood characteristics such as diameter distribution, decay stages and tree species, which are key determinants in influencing species composition. Notably, two species associated with the FC, *Fuscoporia viticola* and *Rhodofomes roseus*, both recognized as spruce associated species, emerged as key drivers of this observed dissimilarity (Figure 12). The presence of spruce CWD, and the species associated with it, is most likely one of the main drivers behind the observed dissimilarity in species composition between the chronosequences. Tree species composition has been shown to be one of many important parameters that impacts the availability of substrate, which in turn affects species assemblages (Ylisirniö et al. 2012).

4.3 Red-listed species

In line with the hypothesis, the fire chronosequence (FC) generally had a higher presence of red-listed species compared to the managed chronosequence. However, at certain points in time following a disturbance, the chronosequences shared similar frequencies. Apart from greater dead wood volumes in the FC, a potential explanation for higher presence of red-listed species, could be the more pronounced diversity of CWD characteristics, such as the presence of unique dead wood substrates created by fire, i.e. charred wood and resin rich pine wood, referred to as "kelo" wood, which provides a niche for a variety of highly specialized WIF (Niemelä et al. 2002).

The temporal dimension in the FC ranged between 4 and 375 years and represents changes in successional dynamics marking a shift from pine dominated forests towards increasing proportion of spruce (Engelmark 1987; Figure 4). Furthermore, time affects dead wood characteristics such as decay stage and diameter distribution, which varied greatly throughout the FC. Addition of spruce CWD in the later temporal stages of the FC, potentially allowed for new successional niches to increase the presence of red-listed species from the initial levels. Time since fire has been shown to influence species composition from being pine associated in natural recent fire stands, shifting towards spruce associated in old fire stands Gudrunsson (2013), which I also found in my study system (Figure 4). During the later temporal stages after fire, CWD started to gradually increase reaching its initial values, which correlates well with the higher presence of red-listed species (Figure 2,13).

As previously mentioned, the NMDS (Figure 12) highlighted two spruce associated species (one red-listed), that were drivers of the dissimilarity in species composition between the chronosequences. While an increase in the abundance of red-listed species might be perceived as positive, there is a long-term concern: the competitive advantage of spruce over pine poses a threat to the already red-listed pine associated WIF. This highlights the need for prescribed burnings to provide new CWD input, reduce tree species competition and maintaining natural pine-dominated forests to safeguard pine associated wood fungi in the long-term. The red-listed species that were found in the managed chronosequence were predominantly pine associated. Anomoporia kamtschatica, Anthoporia albobrunnea and Siderna lenis are all utilizing charred and resin rich pine wood, "Kelo" wood (Artdatabanken 2023). The substrate is created over long time spans and is slow in its decomposition rate. It is safe to say that this substrate is barely recreated in the managed stands, which implies that there is an extinction debt for species dependent on this unique substrate in the managed forest. Furthermore, it highlights the need for prescribed burning to create necessary substrates in both protected areas and managed forests, to safeguard viable populations of the species associated with it. Additionally, these results are in line with the findings of Sippola & Renvall (1999), who showed that species diversity of lignolocolous fungi in managed stands are dependent on the availability and diversity of decaying wood created before clear-cut forestry.

In the MC, presence of red-listed species ranged between zero and two occurrences, making it difficult to correlate the occurrences with the examined parameters. Consequently, it is challenging to draw conclusions on methods to increase the occurrence of red-listed species in managed forests. I have shown that over time, volume of CWD and diversity in CWD characteristics influence the presence of red-listed species in the FC. However, there are several other factors that need to be considered such as "naturalness" of the site, wood fungi dispersal and reproduction (Penttilä 2004; Ylisirniö et al. 2012).

4.4 Implications for forest management

The key findings from this study have indicated a substantial difference in the postdisturbance outcomes for forest stands affected by the disturbances clear-cutting and wildfire, in terms of important ecosystem components such as CWD volume and diversity of WIF. Therefore, drawing similarities between the clear-cutting and fire disturbances can contribute to a misconception (Skogsindustrierna 2023), erroneously implying that both disturbances are natural processes with similar impacts on boreal forests. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that this misconception might contribute to the acceptance of clear-cutting, failing to acknowledge its negative effects on red-listed WIF.

In general, the measured CWD volumes in the managed forest stands were notably high compared to other studies, reaching estimates of threshold values for the maintenance of saproxylic species in boreal forests (Müller & Bütler 2010). However, this is not the case for most of the managed forests in Sweden (Fridman & Walheim 1997; Jonsson et al. 2016). The ecological resilience of Sweden's forests is being negatively affected by intensified forestry, and the last decades transformation of the Swedish forest landscape has resulted in a decreasing trend for many forest dwelling organisms, including WIF (Skogsstyrelsen 2022). My findings support this outcome by highlighting a lower species richness and lower presence of red-listed WIF in the studied managed forests. Furthermore, I have shown that clear-cut forestry has transformed Sweden's old-growth forests into monocultures, resulting in lower volumes of CWD in my study system, which has resulted in changes in species composition and reduced species richness of fungi dependent on CWD.

The Swedish environmental goal "living forest" is not being met and with the current management practices the trend towards reaching it appears to be heading in the wrong direction, with an ongoing upward trend in the red listing of forest species (Skogsstyrelsen 2022). Therefore, continuous conservation practices in forest management are encouraged such as retention of CWD, living conservation trees and tree patch retention providing input of CWD, all of which are standard procedures in the certification norms (FSC 2020). Retention forestry is still in its early stages in terms of conclusive results on biodiversity, however, the practices have increased the dead wood volumes in the managed forest landscape of Sweden (Gustafson et al. 2016; Jonsson et al. 2016). I show that volume CWD and its characteristics are key determinants in the maintenance of WIF in the boreal forest. Since many organisms in the boreal forest have evolved with fire, prescribed burnings could be a potential tool to provide substrate and habitat for these organisms. Additionally, burning has been shown to be the most effective

restoration measure in the short and long term to increase deadwood volumes and the distribution of its decay stages (Hekkala et al. 2016).

4.5 Improvements and limitations

Forty-eight specimens were excluded from the analysis due to pending further identification, resulting in uncertainty about their status as unique species. Twentyeight of these specimens were recorded in the fire-disturbed forests and were scattered relatively evenly across 13 stands in the fire chronosequence. The remaining twenty specimens belonged to the managed forests, with 10 recorded in M13 and 5 in M1a, with the remaining five evenly recorded across the managed chronosequence. Although the absence of these specimens originated from the fire chronosequence, and their inclusion would have most likely further increased the robustness of the results.

The inventory of WIF was conducted as a single survey. There are known reliability issues associated with single surveys, e.g., single survey based on fruiting bodies never catches the whole wood-inhabiting fungal community (Halme & Kotiaho 2012) and WIF abundance can vary from year to year. All the surveys were conducted during the same time of the year when most fruiting bodies were visible, as well as within a short timeframe, which minimized the risk of a time-mismatch between probabilities in finding fruiting bodies across the sites.

Dead wood measurements were conducted on logs measuring above 10 cm in the largest end and there is a risk of not fully capturing the fungal community when excluding dead wood pieces below 10 cm (Juutilainen et al. 2014). However, measuring all dead wood debris would be time consuming. The analysis excluded standing dead wood, a variable that could have provided valuable insight into the anticipated future input of CWD in the two chronosequences.

The extent of the disturbances in the fire chronosequence may differ between stands with forest fires of varying intensity, resulting in different post-fire stand structure. This introduces a level of uncertainty and variability when comparing stands within the chronosequences and makes comparisons to other studies on the subject difficult.

Furthermore, some of the "old-growth" stands in the fire chronosequence had apparent traces of previous historical management practices. Historical management, mainly consisting of high grading has to some extent affected the available CWD in these stands today. Trees that would otherwise have died of natural causes and contributed to the CWD of a particular stand are instead lacking, impacting the available substrate for wood-inhabiting fungi and consequently species occurrences (Josefsson et al. 2010); however, this is difficult to quantify given that mortality can be unpredictable.

Forestry practices are continually evolving, therefore, the data from the managed stands is a result of the prevailing management practices and policy conditions from that respective time point in history. In the older stands, manual felling and natural regeneration using seed trees was the common practice. In contrast, forestry today is highly mechanized and rationalised, carried out with forest machines and with additional regard to nature conservation.

Comparing two chronosequences with different time ranges is not optimal when aiming to draw conclusions based on notable differences in the examined parameters. A different approach could have been to compare similar time ranges; however, that would have resulted in a loss of data from the fire chronosequence. Additionally, comparing the whole age range, captures the landscape situation of the two land-use designations. By presenting the two chronosequences as done in this study makes it possible to compare the stands and speculate on how managed stands with a stand age older than >120, would look in comparison to the older burnt stands. In a way, the managed chronosequence is representing reality of a managed forest rotation in northern Sweden, where forest stands are usually harvested after around 100 years. Furthermore, examining a longer time range in the fire chronosequence gives valuable insights in how ecological succession dynamics act over time.

4.6 Conclusion

I studied how dead wood and its characteristics, species richness, red-listed species and composition of wood-inhabiting fungi differed between a managed and a wildfire forest chronosequence. The aim was to assess the immediate and long-term impact of disturbances, namely clear-cutting and wildfire, on CWD and fungal diversity.

I found that forests disturbed by fire had on average three times the amount of CWD compared to managed forests, although showing high variability over time since disturbance. Furthermore, CWD characteristics greatly differed between the chronosequences, with the most noteworthy being higher dead wood volumes in later decomposition stages, higher volumes in larger diameter classes, and more CWD tree species diversity in fire-disturbed forests, all of which have been shown to be important parameters for predicting the occurrence of red-listed wood-inhabiting fungal species, contributing to higher species richness in fire-disturbed forests in my study system.

I found that dead wood volume was a strong predictor of species richness in both chronosequences up to 90 m³ ha⁻¹ in the fire chronosequence and 50 m³ ha⁻¹ in the managed chronosequence. In general, the fire chronosequence reached higher values of species richness both immediately after disturbance and over time. However, when comparing species density there was no difference between the chronosequences.

Further, I showed that species composition significantly differed between the chronosequences and the species of wood fungi driving the dissimilarity were mainly spruce associated. The finding highlights the need for prescribed burnings to maintain natural pine forests from being outcompeted by spruce, and safeguard threatened pine associated wood fungi. Furthermore, I showed that, over time, forests disturbed by fire had a higher presence of red-listed wood fungi and that the red-listed fungal species occurring in the managed forests were mainly associated with charred and resin rich pine wood, a substrate likely retained from the predisturbed forest structure.

These results highlight how the two disturbances, clear-cutting and wildfire, have radically different impacts on forest ecosystems and it is apparent that the natural disturbance of wildfire creates higher volumes and diversity of CWD characteristics, which is advantageous for a wider diversity of WIF, including threatened species missing in large parts of Sweden's managed forest landscape.

References

- Aakala, T. (2010). Tree mortality and deadwood dynamics in late-successional boreal forests. *Dissertationes Forestales*, 2010. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.100
- Ahti, T., Hämet-Ahti, L. & Jalas, J. (1968). Vegetation zones and their sections in northwestern Europe. *Annales Botanici Fennici*, 5 (3), 169–211
- Andersson, E. (2023). The restoration period A new era in forestry. 2023,
- Artdatabanken (2023). Ett kunskapscentrum för arter och naturtyper | SLU Artdatabanken. SLU.SE. https://www.artdatabanken.se/ [2023-11-10]
- Artdatabanken, S. (2020). *Tillstånd och trender för arter och deras livsmiljöer rödlistade arter i Sverige* 2020 - *SLU Artdatabanken*. (24). https://www.artdatabanken.se/globalassets/ew/subw/artd/6publikationer/32.-tillstand-och-trender-2020/tillstand-trender.pdf [2020-10-09]
- Axelsson, A.-L. & Östlund, L. (2001). Retrospective gap analysis in a Swedish boreal forest landscape using historical data. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 147 (2), 109–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00470-9
- Bader, P., Jansson, S. & Jonsson, B.G. (1995). Wood-inhabiting fungi and substratum decline in selectively logged boreal spruce forests. *Biological Conservation*, 72 (3), 355–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(94)00029-P
- Berg, A., Ehnstrom, B., Gustafsson, L., Hallingback, T., Jonsell, M. & Weslien, J. (1995). Threat Levels and Threats to Red-Listed Species in Swedish Forests. *Conservation Biology*, 9 (6), 1629–1633
- Berglund, H., Jönsson, M., Penttilä, R. & Vanha-Majamaa, I. (2011). The effects of burning and dead-wood creation on the diversity of pioneer wood-inhabiting fungi in managed boreal spruce forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 261 (7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.01.008
- Clark, D.F., Kneeshaw, D.D., Burton, P.J. & Antos, J.A. (1998). Coarse woody debris in sub-boreal spruce forests of west-central British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 28 (2), 284–290. https://doi.org/10.1139/x97-208
- Clemmensen, K.E., Finlay, R.D., Dahlberg, A., Stenlid, J., Wardle, D.A. & Lindahl, B.D. (2015). Carbon sequestration is related to mycorrhizal fungal community shifts during long-term succession in boreal forests. *New Phytologist*, 205 (4), 1525–1536. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13208
- Cogos, S. (2020). Fire, people and reindeer in the boreal forest : the role of fire in the historical and contemporary interactions between Sami reindeer herding and forest management in northern Sweden. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae*, (2020:63). https://res.slu.se/id/publ/108764 [2024-01-11]
- Dahlberg, A. (2002). Effects of fire on ectomycorrhizal fungi in Fennoscandian boreal forests. *Silva Fennica*, 36 (1). https://www.silvafennica.fi/article/551 [2024-01-04]

- Dahlberg, A. & Stokland, J. (2004). Vedlevande arters krav på substrat. (7). Skogsstyrelsen. https://shop.skogsstyrelsen.se/shop/9098/art85/4646085-51e2f5-1733.pdf [2023-10-17]
- Ehnström, B. (2017). *Tall en tallrik biologisk mångfald*. Centrum för biologisk mångfald.
- Engelmark, O. (1987). Fire history correlations to forest type and topography in northern Sweden. *Annales Botanici Fennici*, 24 (4), 317–324
- Ericsson, S., Östlund, L. & Axelsson, A.-L. (2000). A forest of grazing and logging: Deforestation and reforestation history of a boreal landscape in central Sweden. New Forests, 19 (3), 227–240. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006673312465
- Esseen, P.-A., Ehnström, B., Ericson, L. & Sjöberg, K. (1997). Boreal Forests. *Ecological Bulletins*, (46), 16–47
- Felton, A., Löfroth, T., Angelstam, P., Gustafsson, L., Hjältén, J., Felton, A.M., Simonsson, P., Dahlberg, A., Lindbladh, M., Svensson, J., Nilsson, U., Lodin, I., Hedwall, P.O., Sténs, A., Lämås, T., Brunet, J., Kalén, C., Kriström, B., Gemmel, P. & Ranius, T. (2020). Keeping pace with forestry: Multi-scale conservation in a changing production forest matrix. *Ambio*, 49 (5), 1050–1064. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01248-0
- Fridman, J. & Walheim, M. (1997). *Död ved i Sverige*. (12). Sveriges lantsbruksuniversitet. https://www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/ewcentrala/forskn/popvet-dok/faktaskog/faktaskog97/fs1997012.pdf [2023-10-18]
- FSC (2020). FSC-standard för skogsbruk i Sverige. (FSC-STD-SWE-03-2019 SW). file:///C:/Users/wiese/Downloads/FSCstandard%20fo%CC%88r%20skogsbruk%20i%20Sverige%20FSC-STD-SWE-03-2019.pdf
- Gudrunsson, M. (2013). Forest fire drives long-term community changes of wooddecaying fungi in a boreal forest archipelago. MID SWEDEN UNIVERSITY. https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:783967/FULLTExT01.pdf] [2023-11-22]
- Gustafson, L., Hannerz, M. & Aldentun, Y. (2016). Naturhänsyn vid avverkning en syntes av forskning från Norden och Baltikum. Rapport från forskningsprogrammet Smart Hänsyn
- Gustafsson, L., Baker, S.C., Bauhus, J., Beese, W.J., Brodie, A., Kouki, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., Lõhmus, A., Pastur, G.M., Messier, C., Neyland, M., Palik, B., Sverdrup-Thygeson, A., Volney, W.J.A., Wayne, A. & Franklin, J.F. (2012). Retention Forestry to Maintain Multifunctional Forests: A World Perspective. *BioScience*, 62 (7), 633–645. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.7.6
- Gustafsson, L., Kouki, J. & Sverdrup-Thygeson, A. (2010). Tree retention as a conservation measure in clear-cut forests of northern Europe: a review of ecological consequences. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 25 (4), 295–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2010.497495
- Halme, P. & Kotiaho, J.S. (2012). The importance of timing and number of surveys in fungal biodiversity research. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 21 (1), 205– 219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-011-0176-z
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D., Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Lienkaemper, G.W., Cromack, K. & Cummins, K.W. (1986). Ecology of Coarse Woody Debris in Temperate Ecosystems. I: MacFadyen, A. & Ford, E.D. (red.) Advances in Ecological Research. Academic Press. 133–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2504(08)60121-X
- Hekkala, A.-M., Ahtikoski, A., Päätalo, M.-L., Tarvainen, O., Siipilehto, J. & Tolvanen, A. (2016). Restoring volume, diversity and continuity of

deadwood in boreal forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-016-1112-z

- Hottola, J., Ovaskainen, O. & Hanski, I. (2009). A Unified Measure of the Number, Volume and Diversity of Dead Trees and the Response of Fungal Communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 97 (6), 1320–1328
- Jansson, U., Wastenson, L. & Aspenberg, P. (2011). National atlas of Sweden. Agriculture and forestry in Sweden since 1900 : a cartographic description. Norstedts Förlag. https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:su:diva-67720 [2024-01-26]
- Jonsson, B.G., Ekström, M., Esseen, P.-A., Grafström, A., Ståhl, G. & Westerlund, B. (2016). Dead wood availability in managed Swedish forests – Policy outcomes and implications for biodiversity. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 376, 174–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.017
- Management, 376, 174–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.017
 Josefsson, T., Olsson, J. & Östlund, L. (2010). Linking forest history and conservation efforts: Long-term impact of low-intensity timber harvest on forest structure and wood-inhabiting fungi in northern Sweden. *Biological Conservation*, 143 (7), 1803–1811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.035
- Junninen, K. & Komonen, A. (2011). Conservation ecology of boreal polypores: A review. *Biological Conservation*, 144 (1), 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.07.010
- Juutilainen, K., Halme, P., Kotiranta, H. & Mönkkönen, M. (2011). Size matters in studies of dead wood and wood-inhabiting fungi. *Fungal Ecology*, 4 (5), 342–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2011.05.004
- Juutilainen, K., Mönkkönen, M., Kotiranta, H. & Halme, P. (2014). The effects of forest management on wood-inhabiting fungi occupying dead wood of different diameter fractions. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 313, 283– 291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.11.019
- Keeley, J.E. (2012). Ecology and evolution of pine life histories. *Annals of Forest Science*, 69 (4), 445–453. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-012-0201-8
- Lassauce, A., Paillet, Y., Jactel, H. & Bouget, C. (2011). Deadwood as a surrogate for forest biodiversity: Meta-analysis of correlations between deadwood volume and species richness of saproxylic organisms. *Ecological Indicators*, 11 (5), 1027–1039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.02.004
- Linder, P. & Östlund, L. (1998). Structural changes in three mid-boreal Swedish forest landscapes, 1885–1996. *Biological Conservation*, 85 (1), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(97)00168-7
- Lundmark, H. (2020). Clear-cutting The most discussed logging method in Swedish forest history. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae*, (2020:64). https://res.slu.se/id/publ/108511 [2024-01-04]
- Luyssaert, S., Schulze, E.-D., Börner, A., Knohl, A., Hessenmöller, D., Law, B.E., Ciais, P. & Grace, J. (2008). Old-growth forests as global carbon sinks. *Nature*, 455 (7210), 213–215. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07276
- Müller, J. & Bütler, R. (2010). A review of habitat thresholds for dead wood: a baseline for management recommendations in European forests. *European Journal of Forest Research*, 129 (6), 981–992. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-010-0400-5
- Niemelä, T., Wallenius, T. & Kotiranta, H. (2002). The kelo tree, a vanishing substrate of specified wood-inhabiting fungi. *Polish Botanical Journal*, 47, 91–101
- Niklasson, M. & Granstrom, A. (2000). Numbers and Sizes of Fires: Long-Term Spatially Explicit Fire History in a Swedish Boreal Landscape. *Ecology*, 81 (6), 1484–1499. https://doi.org/10.2307/177301

Oksanen, J., Simpson, G.L., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., Barbour, M., Bedward, M., Bolker, B., Borcard, D., Carvalho, G., Chirico, M., Caceres, M.D., Durand, S., Evangelista, H.B.A., FitzJohn, R., Friendly, M., Furneaux, B., Hannigan, G., Hill, M.O., Lahti, L., McGlinn, D., Ouellette, M.-H., Cunha, E.R., Smith, T., Stier, A., Braak, C.J.F.T. & Weedon, J. (2022). vegan: Community Ecology Package (2.6-4). https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/vegan/index.html?fbclid=IwAR2yaJPONYgwY ESIIRF5wxmBdjwkmGEHuAmnD_9AOencSza3c1NDrZPI-S8 [2024-01-

24]

- Olsson, J. & Jonsson, B.G. (2010). Restoration fire and wood-inhabiting fungi in a Pinus sylvestris forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259 (10), 1971– 1980
- Penttilä, R. (2004). The impacts of forestry on polyporous fungi in boreal forests. https://helda.helsinki.fi/server/api/core/bitstreams/5200e0c1-e448-40eaac26-2943a4a3a7dd/content
- R Core Team (2023). R: Core Team 2023. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Ramberg, E., Strengbom, J. & Granath, G. (2018). Coordination through databases can improve prescribed burning as a conservation tool to promote forest biodiversity. *Ambio*, 47 (3), 298–306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-017-0987-6
- Rautio, A.-M., Josefsson, T., Axelsson, A.-L. & Östlund, L. (2016). People and pines 1555–1910: integrating ecology, history and archaeology to assess long-term resource use in northern Fennoscandia. *Landscape Ecology*, 31 (2), 337–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-015-0246-9
- Riksskogstaxeringen (2023a). Fältinstruktion 2023. Institutionen för Skoglig resurshushållning och Institutionen för Mark och Miljö SLU. https://www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/org/centrb/rt/dokument/faltinst/ris_fin_ 2023.pdf
- Riksskogstaxeringen (2023b). *Skogsdata 2023*. SLU Institutionen för skoglig resurshushållning. https://www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/org/centrb/rt/dokument/skogsdata/skog

https://www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/org/centrb/rt/dokument/skogsdata/skog sdata_2023_webb.pdf [2023-10-03]

- Rosenvald, R. & Lõhmus, A. (2008). For what, when, and where is green-tree retention better than clear-cutting? A review of the biodiversity aspects. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 255 (1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.016
- Ryan, K. (2002). Dynamic interactions between forest structure and fire behavior in boreal ecosystems. *Silva Fennica*, 36 (1). https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.548
- SFS (1993:1096) (1993). . https://rkrattsbaser.gov.se/sfst?bet=1993:1096 [2022-04-11]
- Siitonen, J. (2001). Forest Management, Coarse Woody Debris and Saproxylic Organisms: Fennoscandian Boreal Forests as an Example. *Ecological Bulletins*, (49), 11–41
- Sippola, A.-L., Lehesvirta, T. & Renvall, P. (2001). Effects of Selective Logging on Coarse Woody Debris and Diversity of Wood-Decaying Polypores in Eastern Finland. *Ecological Bulletins*, (49), 243–254
- Sippola, A.-L. & Renvall, P. (1999). Wood-decomposing fungi and seed-tree cutting: A 40-year perspective. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 115 (2), 183–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(98)00398-3
- Skogsindustrierna (2023). Frågor och svar om hyggen i skogen -Skogsindustrierna. https://www.skogsindustrierna.se/omskogsindustrin/vad-gor-skogsindustrin/skogsbruk/faq/om-hyggen-iskogen/ [2023-09-20]

- Skogsstyrelsen (2022). Levande skogar. Fördjupad utvärdering 2023. Skogsstyrelsen. https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/omoss/rapporter/rapporter-20222021202020192018/rapport-2022-12levande-skogar---fordjupad-utvardering-2023.pdf
- Stokland, J., Siitonen, J. & Gunnar Jonsson, B. (2012). *Biodiversity in Dead Wood*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139025843
- Stokland, J.N. (2021). Volume increment and carbon dynamics in boreal forest when extending the rotation length towards biologically old stands. *Forest Ecology* and *Management*, 488, 119017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2021.119017
- Uotila, A., Maltamo, M., Uuttera, J. & Isomäki, A. (2001). Stand Structure in Semi-Natural and Managed Forests in Eastern Finland and Russian Karelia. *Ecological Bulletins*, (49), 149–158
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org. [2024-01-24]
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L., Müller, K., Vaughan, D., Software, P. & PBC (2023). *dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation* (1.1.4). https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/dplyr/index.html [2024-01-24]
- Ylisirniö, A.-L., Penttilä, R., Berglund, H., Hallikainen, V., Isaeva, L., Kauhanen, H., Koivula, M. & Mikkola, K. (2012). Dead wood and polypore diversity in natural post-fire succession forests and managed stands – Lessons for biodiversity management in boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 286, 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.08.018
- Zackrisson, Ö. (1977). Influence of Forest Fires on the North Swedish Boreal Forest. Oikos, 29 (1), 22–32. https://doi.org/10.2307/3543289
- Östlund, L. & Norstedt, G. (2021). Preservation of the cultural legacy of the indigenous Sami in northern forest reserves : Present shortcomings and future possibilities. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 502. https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:umu:diva-188645 [2024-01-05]
- Östlund, L. & Zackrisson, O. (1998). The forest history of boreal Sweden: a multidisciplinary approach. I: *Methods and approaches in forest history*. *Papers selected from a conference held in Florence, Italy in 1998*. 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851994208.0119
- Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Axelsson, A.-L. (1997). The history and transformation of a Scandinavian boreal forest landscape since the 19th century. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 27 (8), 1198–1206. https://doi.org/10.1139/x97-070

Popular science summary

More than half of Sweden's land is covered by forests, and the forest industry plays an important role in Sweden's economy. Forest management, often involving clear cutting, has been important in raising forest growing stock and wood availability. The efficient and rationalized forestry practices have positioned Sweden as a leading forestry nation. As climate change poses challenges, the role of forests as a partial solution to addressing these issues has been understood. In the contemporary forest debate, much of the discussion is centred on how we can manage forests to mitigate the effects of climate change. The forest industry has drawn similarities between the natural disturbance wildfire and clear-cutting, emphasizing its appropriateness in the northern parts of Sweden where wildfires were historically prevalent. However, the importance of forests goes beyond their role in carbon uptake, they are equally crucial for biodiversity. The current trend is negative for many forest dwelling species in Sweden's forest today, with species successively being added to the red-list. The dilemma of managing forest to mitigate climate change parallel with consideration for biodiversity is leading to trade-offs.

To further understand the effects of the forest management activity of clear-cutting on biodiversity, I examined the differences between managed forests and burnt forests in terms dead wood quantity, dead wood characteristics and their impact on wood-inhabiting fungi.

I found that the two disturbances had distinctly different ecological effects on postdisturbance stand structure. Burned forests had on average three times the amount of dead wood, characterized by later decomposition grades, larger diameter sizes and a wider diversity of dead wood tree species. Higher dead wood volumes correlated with higher species richness of wood inhabiting fungi. Fire-disturbed forests had greater diversity of wood inhabiting fungi and more red-listed species compared to managed forests. This outcome can partially be explained by the greater diversity of dead wood characteristics in fire-disturbed environments. My findings show that managed and burnt forests widely differ in terms of dead wood volume, species diversity and red-listed species. The results further emphasize the trade-offs between clear-cut forestry and the consequential reduction in biodiversity.

Acknowledgements

I want to thank my supervisors, my main supervisor Maja Sundqvist for feedback and continuous support throughout the writing, and my assistant-supervisor Michael J. Gundale for providing detailed comments. Thank you both for providing encouragement when needed, and that I got the possibility to partake in this project. Special thanks to Hilda Edlund for her patience and help with statistical analysis and R studio. I am grateful to Lars Östlund for his generous sharing of expertise in forest history. I also want to thank Torbjörn Josefsson for sharing knowledge and providing me with valuable information related to fungi. Finally, I want to thank the SLU-team of research assistants and the Ecogain-team for the nice field days.

Appendix 1

| Site | | | | |
|------|--|--|--|----------------------------------|
| F121 | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | Anomoporia kamtschatica NT | | |
| F137 | | | | |
| F197 | Porodaedalea chrysoloma NT | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | Rhodofomes roseus NT | |
| F208 | Sidera lenis VU | Anomoporia kamtschatica NT | | |
| F229 | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | | | |
| F263 | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | Rhodofomes roseus NT | Porodaedalea chrysoloma NT | |
| F28 | Anomoporia kamtschatica NT | Anthoporia albobrunnea VU | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | Skeletocutis brevispora VU |
| F288 | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | Rhodofomes roseus NT | Amylocystis lapponica VU | Phellopilus nigrolimitatus NT |
| F310 | Rhodofomes roseus NT | Phellinidium ferrugineofuscum NT | Phellopilus nigrolimitatus NT | |
| F375 | Postia lateritia VU | Phellopilus nigrolimitatus NT | Porodaedalea chrysoloma NT | Antrodiella parasitica VU |
| F4a | Rhodofomes roseus NT | Porodaedalea chrysoloma NT | Perenniporia subacida VU | Diplomitoporus crustulinus VU |
| F4b | | | | |

| F5 | Rhodofomes | Perenniporia | | |
|-------|--------------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|----------------|
| | roseus NT | subacida VU | | |
| F51 | Anomoporia | | | |
| | kamtschatica NT | | | |
| F56a | Phellopilus | Anthoporia | | |
| | nigrolimitatus | albobrunnea VU | | |
| | NT | | | |
| F56b | Neoantrodia | Rhodofomes | Anomoporia | Anthoporia |
| | infirma EN | roseus NT | kamtschatica NT | albobrunnea VU |
| F8 | Odonticium | Sidera lenis VU | Anthoporia | |
| 700 | romellii NT | | albobrunnea VU | |
| F98 | Anomoporia | | | |
| | kamtschatica NT | | | |
| M100 | D1 111 1 11 | | | |
| M102 | Phellinidium | | | |
| | terrugineotuscum | | | |
| N(100 | | A (1 | | |
| M109 | Phellinidium | Asterodon | | |
| | Ierrugineoiuscum | ierruginosus N I | | |
| M12 | NI Anomonia | | | |
| M13 | Anomoporia Izomtachatica NT | formuginga fugaum | | |
| | Kamischatica N I | NT | | |
| M18 | Anomoporia | Phellinidium | | |
| | kamtschatica NT | ferrugineofuscum | | |
| | | NT | | |
| M1a | | | | |
| M1b | | | | |
| M2 | | | | |
| M24 | | | | |
| M32 | Postia lateritia | Anomoporia | | |
| | VU | kamtschatica NT | | |
| M36 | | | | |
| M39 | Anomoporia | | | |
| | kamtschatica NT | | | |
| M42 | Anomoporia | Sidera lenis VU | | |
| | kamtschatica NT | | | |
| M61 | Anomoporia | Anthoporia | | |
| | kamtschatica NT | albobrunnea VU | | |
| M65 | | | | |
| M71 | | | | |

| M80 | | | |
|-----|----------------|-----------------|--|
| M94 | Anthoporia | Anomoporia | |
| | albobrunnea VU | kamtschatica NT | |

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.

SENASTE UTGIVNA NUMMER

| 2023:08 | Författare: Lydia Kruse Identifying training needs for the implementation of Continuous Cover Forestry in Sweden |
|---------|--|
| 2023:09 | Författare: Ylva Kungsman Från expansion och äventyr till revolution och landsflykt Svenska sågverk och sågverksarbetare i norra Ryssland 1898–1925 |
| 2023:10 | Författare: Elijah Ourth Consequences of Alternative Forest Management in Different Widths of Riparian Buffer Zones: A GIS Analysis |
| 2023:11 | Författare: Eric Lundström Major forest companies and owner associations interpretation of policies and certification programs regarding riparian buffer zones |
| 2023:12 | Författare: Gaya Marike ten Kate Plant community responses to 15 years of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization along an elevational gradient in the subarctic tundra |
| 2023:13 | Författare: Elle Eriksson "The reindeer does not move faster than the human walks" – Sámi traditional reindeer herding knowledge in a forest landscape in Váhtjer community |
| 2023:14 | Författare: Ludwig Olofsson Demographic equilibrium modelling of single tree selection stands in Siljansfors. Judging the sustainability of single tree selection systems in Sweden |
| 2023:15 | Författare: Ester Andersson The restoration period - A new era in forestry |
| 2023:16 | Författare: Anna Swärd Ecosystem services from woody vegetation in East African rangelands |
| 2023:17 | Författare: Olivia Forssén "It was a free and healthy job" – timber floating on the river Ångermanälven in the 20th century |
| 2023:18 | Författare: Kailey Tentis Plant-soil feedbacks in boreal tree species |
| 2024:01 | Författare: Richard Engholm Effect of stand age on soil respiration in managed vs unmanaged Scots pine stands |
| 2024:02 | Författare: Rasmus Staaf Riparian plant biodiversity and community composition of ditches and straightened streams. Identifying Key Environmental Drivers in a Boreal Forest Setting |
| 2024:03 | Författare: Noel Wieser Diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi across managed and wildfire boreal Scots pine forest chronosequences |